STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Anderson County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JUSTIN JAMAL WARNER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001313

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
DEC 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by failing to suppress the cell phone evidence where that evidence was obtained pursuant to an invalid search warrant, where the state successfully and incorrectly argued a warrant was not even required, since appellant had some privacy interest in his cell phone records?

2.

Whether the court erred in allowing witness David Church to give very detailed cell phone testimony about appellant's alleged whereabouts according to his interpretation of the cell phone towers evidence, since the state failed to prove this evidence was sufficiently reliable pursuant to the court's gatekeeping function, and in reality the evidence was speculative, and should not have been admitted?

3.

Whether the court erred by admitting written cell phone interpretation evidence, since this evidence, if admitted, should only have been allowed as demonstrative evidence before the jury, but it should not have been admitted into evidence to be in the jury room during deliberations where it would be given undue prominence by the jury?

4.

Whether the court erred by refusing to grant appellant a Neil v. Biggers hearing on the unduly suggestive nature of the identification by Probation Agent Nathan Goolsby, who claimed he recognized appellant from a surveillance video, even though the man in the video clip was wearing a hat and sunglasses, and where the police asked Goolsby if the man in the video was

appellant, since it was an abuse of discretion to deny appellant an in camera hearing under these highly suggestive circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 526 – 529. His case was called to trial on May 22, 2017, before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. Bruce Byrholdt and Bruce Harvey represented appellant. Catherine T. Huey was the Deputy Solicitor. R. 1.

On May 25, 2017, the jury found appellant guilty on all three counts. R. 522, ll. 4-14. Judge McIntosh sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder, twenty years for attempted armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 525, ll. 1-14.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by failing to suppress the cell phone evidence where that evidence was obtained pursuant to an invalid search warrant, where the state successfully and incorrectly argued a warrant was not even required, since appellant had some privacy interest in his cell phone records.

Introduction

This case involves the attempted robbery and murder of a woman working at the BP station she owned with her husband in Anderson County. A black male was seen on the surveillance tape but he was wearing sunglasses and a hat. A probation agent, Nathan Goolsby, in Georgia was asked by the Anderson Police if this man was “Nathan Warner,” and Goolsby confirmed it was appellant. Goolsby told the jurors he identified appellant from his “walk.” The judge refused to give appellant a Neil v. Biggers hearing.

In addition, the judge allowed cell phone tower testimony, and written maps and arrows evidence to be admitted over appellant’s objections that it was not science, it was speculative evidence, and that if it was admitted it should only be used as demonstrative evidence, and it should not go to the jury. The state used this evidence to argue that it showed appellant came from Atlanta on I-85, his phone was near the crime scene in Anderson County, and that he returned to Atlanta on I-85. State’s exhibits 23 A-E are on file with this Court.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel Harvey argued that the state illegally obtained appellant’s cell phone records in this case. Defense counsel told the judge that a South Carolina magistrate judge did not have the authority to issue a search warrant “directed to T-Mobile custodian of records in

New Jersey.” Counsel argued local authorities in Anderson did not follow the “particular procedure that must be followed in order to obtain out-of-state witnesses or documents. That’s under the uniform act.” R. 41, l. 1 – 43, l. 1.

The solicitor responded “Your Honor, we follow what the telephone companies require of us. We do this all the time. Even though they are out of state, they are almost always out of state. That is what they require of us. And my understanding is as long as we say that you don’t have to come, that it doesn’t matter.” R. 43, l. 2 – 47, l. 6.

Defense counsel Harvey responded that the search warrant was issued by a local Anderson, South Carolina judge, the Honorable Judge Sharp, requesting appellant’s phone records from April 26, 2015 – May 4, 2015 from the New Jersey Corporation. “The information can be emailed back or mailed directly to me through any contact information below. Thank you for the help -- for all the help in this matter.” Defense counsel repeated that the cell phone records were illegally obtained because the search warrant was outside of the judge’s jurisdiction, and that the local judge did not have the authority to issue this warrant. Even though that court did not have jurisdiction to issue a search warrant, law enforcement did not even provide probable cause if they would have been before a proper court. R. 47, l. 13 – 52, l. 17.

The solicitor then argued to the judge that the state did not even need a search warrant to obtain the cell phone records. Defense counsel disagreed with the judge that records belonged to the company, and that appellant had no standing to challenge their disclosure. Defense counsel Harvey responded that although there was a split of authority in state jurisdictions and the federal courts, that appellant did have a privacy interest in the records and that the Fourth Circuit case of

United States v. Graham was pending before the United States Supreme Court. R. 54, l. 5 – 58, l. 9.

When the court returned to the issue of the cell phone records being illegally obtained, he noted that the defense argued the magistrate’s jurisdiction was limited pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-13-140. The judge reasoned that if the cell phone company voluntarily complied “with whatever process they were doing,” and he did not think it made a difference if the search warrant was invalid. The judge rejected the defense argument that the state needed either a valid search warrant or a court order to obtain appellant’s cell phone records. R. 101, l. 5 – 103, l. 13.

During the trial, as seen infra, defense counsel would repeatedly object to the cell phone testimony of FBI agent David Church. Susan Johnson was the custodian of records for T-Mobile who appeared with the cell phone records. R. 234, l. 3 – 238, l. 16.

Standard of Review

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence in a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, the appellate court “will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error.” State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000). The appellate court “will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” Id.; see also Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 180–81, 754 S.E.2d 862, 868 (2014) (“On appeal from a motion to suppress on Fourth Amendment grounds, [appellate courts] apply a deferential standard of review and will reverse only if there is clear error.”).

Discussion

Defense counsel correctly argued that appellant had some privacy interest in his cell phone records, and that the search warrant to obtain those records was invalid because the local judge did not have the power to order their disclosure from New Jersey. Defense counsel

acknowledged the split in authority on this subject, but asserted appellant had a privacy interest in the records, and that the cell phone company could not give the cell phone records to law enforcement with a valid search warrant or court order.

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, (1967); Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

In State v. Drayton, 411 S.C. 533, 769 S.E.2d 245 (2015), the Supreme Court held an individual does not have an expectation of privacy pursuant to the Fourth Amendment in his historical cell site location records. However, our Supreme Court held this Court “erred in reaching the novel issue of whether [Drayton] had an expectation of privacy in his HCSLD [historical cell site location data] because . . . the affidavits in support of the warrants [obtained by law enforcement in the case] established probable cause for the search.” State v. Drayton, 415 S.C. 43, 45, 780 S.E.2d 902, 903 (2015). Consequently, our Supreme Court vacated that part of this Court’s opinion in Drayton. Id.

A careful examination of recent United States Supreme Court precedent indicates that an

individual has an expectation of privacy in his cellular telephone records, including the call detail records and the historical cell site location records.

The Supreme Court's recent decision in Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) supports Appellant's argument that individuals have an expectation of privacy in cellular telephone records.

In Riley v. California, 134 S. Ct. 2473 (2014), the Court held that privacy interests are involved and at stake involving a citizen's cell phone data. While the data involved in this case did not involve text messages, the disclosed cell phone information was used by the state, as will be seen infra, to reconstruct appellant's "specific movements . . ." to claim that appellant's cell phone information showed he drove from Atlanta to the "crime scene," then to Greenville and then back to Atlanta. The cell phone information in this case could not have been more prejudicial. See Riley v. California, 134 S. Ct. at 2490, *citing* United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 945, 955 (2012) (Sotomayer, J. concurring).

In United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016), the Fourth Circuit, en. banc, reversed the three judge panel, and held that the government did not violate the Fourth Amendment by obtaining historical cell-site location information from the cell phone provider without a warrant. United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016), is now pending before the United States Supreme Court.¹ The resolution of the issue cell phone evidence involved in this case may be controlled by the disposition of the United States Supreme Court in Graham.

Appellant maintains that he had a privacy interest in his cell phone records, and they were certainly used to obtain his conviction in this case. "[I]n order to claim the protection of the Fourth amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of

¹ Graham was conferenced in the United States Supreme Court on June 2, 2017.

privacy in the place searched, and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has 'a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.'" Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143-144, and n.12. Appellant has such a privacy interest in this case.

The search warrant issued by the local Anderson judge was not valid, and there was no court order for the records. The trial judge agreed with the solicitor that a warrant or order court was not required. The solicitor said the cell phone company was happy to cooperate with law enforcement's request so long as they did not have to come to court. The invalid local search warrant that was used that was used in this case, and respectfully, the trial judge's ruling that a warrant or court order was not even required showed a blatant disregard of appellant's privacy interest in this cell phone records. Appellant should be granted a new trial.

The court erred in allowing witness David Church to give very detailed cell phone testimony about appellant's alleged whereabouts according to his interpretation of the cell phone towers evidence, since the state failed to prove this evidence was sufficiently reliable pursuant to the court's gatekeeping function, and in reality the evidence was speculative, and should not have been admitted.

Relevant Facts

David Church was an FBI agent in Roanoke, Virginia. Church testified pre-trial: "I became a national asset. It's just a full-time position with a cellular analysis survey team. R. 68, l. 2 – 69; l. 22. Church said he had testified in court as an expert in cellular telephone record analysis on eleven previous occasions. R. 76, ll. 17-23. When questioned by the solicitor, Church said in conclusory fashion that this cell phone analysis was reliable. R. 76, l. 24 – 77, l. 23.

Church admitted that he entered latitude and longitude information into Google for assistance with finding out where a particular cell phone tower was. R. 81, l. 9 – 89, l. 20.

The judge asked Church what he was concluding from his interpretation of the records. Church answered, "The end result is we are drawing conclusions of the approximate locations of where a phone could be." The judge responded, "It sounds like you're describing information from one set of records and then plugging them into another set like Google." Church said he was extrapolating information from the records he received from the phone companies and also coming to his own conclusions on what the records showed. R. 90, l. 25 – 92, l. 10.

The judge also asked, "Besides a boilerplate response, how do you determine that it's, in fact, reliable?" Church responded, "There are sixty-two of us now that are doing it, and we

regularly find people that are looking for, or help look for, by analyzing those records . . . so to me, I mean, *the practical application is the best study.*” R. 92, l. 13 – 93, l. 9. (emphasis added).

Defense counsel Harvey argued he did not think that this “expertise” even qualified as a science. Harvey argued, “My position, Judge, is that this does not require an FBI agent to say, ‘Hey, we get the longitude and latitude from the phone company. We can plug it in with our software, and we can identify where a cell tower is.’ I can do that. I promise you I can do that.” R. 96, ll. 8-22. Counsel argued there was not a need for expert testimony. R. 96, l. 11 – 98, l. 18.

The judge disagreed with defense counsel, and he ruled that Church was an expert and that Church would be allowed to give his opinion testimony in this area of cell phone analysis to the jury over the defense objections. R. 98, l. 19 – 99, l. 8.

As will be seen infra, defense counsel also argued that if cell phone evidence was going to be allowed – it should only be for demonstrative purposes as “a summary exhibit.” The solicitor told the judge that she would use the cell phone documents as demonstrative exhibits but she wanted some of them introduced into evidence. The solicitor wanted the “arrow indicates direction of travel” documents (pages 8-12 of State’s Exhibit 23 A-E) before the jury as evidence. The judge overruled the defense objections, and defense counsel reminded the judge he was objecting “to his testimony in whole” based on his prior motion. R. 391, l. 23 – 399, 11.

When Church testified in the presence of the jury, defense counsel continuously repeated his previous objections. Over objection, Church was qualified as an expert in record and cell-site analysis. Defense counsel also objected to Church opining that this analysis was reliable. R. 406, l. 22 – 408, l. 10. The judge also allowed Church to use his records as trial exhibits

admitted into evidence subject to appellant's prior objection that they could only be used for demonstrative purposes, if the court allowed them at all. R. 416, l. 11 – 417, l. 15.

Church told the jury that, in his opinion, the cell phone evidence showed the phone travelled from metropolitan Atlanta up to the Greenville/Anderson County area, and “the phone traveled within Anderson and Greenville County up towards the Pellham Road area back down to the area of the crime scene and utilized the two sectors shown in slide 11, I believe.” R. 438, l. 10 – 439, l. 1. (emphasis added).

Over appellant's prior records, maps, arrows, and other information from Church's report were introduced into evidence as State's Exhibit 23-A through 23-E. They jury therefore had the documents in the jury room during deliberations. R. 439, l. 21 – 440, l. 5. The following occurred on cross-examination of Church:

Q: Okay. So we have a number of factors to be taken into consideration in these particular instances, but we can't and we don't have the data to determine what kind of phone, the generation of the phone, the wattage of the phone, the actual coverage area, or the data to determine the actual coverage area, correct?

A: From the records that I analyzed, no.

R. 453, ll. 16-22.

Church admitted that there is a “drive test” where the agent physically drives with equipment “to determine the actual coverage area of a particular cell tower.” Church admitted he did not do that test in this case. R. 454, ll. 2-21.

Church maintained that appellant's phone “pinged” off a tower approximately two and a half miles from the BP station where the decedent, Mrs. Patel, was shot and killed. R. 463, ll. 14-22.

In her closing argument, the solicitor argued that Church had analyzed the cell phone information and “it was in Special Agent David Church’s expert opinion that the defendant’s phone was in the area of the crime scene just before the incident and just after the incident took place. Not to mention it had traveled from Atlanta all the way up to Greenville and then back through and back to Atlanta.” R. 476, ll. 6-13.

Standard of Review

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion, and prejudice. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006).

Discussion

The trial court has a gatekeeping function in assuring the reliability of expert and non-expert testimony. See State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). The trial judge here noted that Church only testified in a “boilerplate” fashion that this evidence was reliable.

All Church could say as to reliability when the judge also questioned him was that he had colleagues who also dealt with this cell phone evidence, and that their “practical application” was the best test of its reliability. In other words, there was no outside or independent review of the accuracy of reliability of this evidence.

Defense counsel argued that this evidence should not even be considered a science, and he continued to maintain that this evidence was speculative and therefore not reliable. Rule 702, SCRE, provides that “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.”

In State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 698 (2009), the Court wrote: “We hold that trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or non-scientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, the trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability, and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to ‘weight, not admissibility’ may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.”

“When a cell phone is turned on, it identifies its location to nearby cell towers, every seven seconds, on a continuous basis.” Eric Lode, Validity of Use of Cellular Telephone or Tower to Track Prospective, Real-Time, or Historical Position of Possessor of Phone under State Law, 94 A.L.R. 6, 579 (2014). When appellant’s cell phone was on in this case is another unknown.

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