**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Anderson County

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JUSTIN JAMAL WARNER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-001313

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ED SALTER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

SAMUEL M. BAILEY  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103131

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

DAVID R. WAGNER.  
Solicitor, 10<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

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

**II. Should It Be Determined That The Warrant To Obtain Appellant's Cell Site Location Information Was Invalid, Such Error Was Made In Good Faith And Not Subject To Exclusion.**

*Standard of Review*

"[T]his court[ ] may affirm a trial [court's] decision on any ground appearing in the record and, hence, may affirm the trial [court's] correct result even though [it] may have erred on some other ground." *Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Mkt., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct.App.1987). The reasoning adopted by the trial court is not binding upon this court if the

record discloses a correct result. *Id.*; see also Rule 220(c), SCACR” *Fay v. Grand Strand Reg'l Med. Ctr., LLC*, 412 S.C. 185, 195, 771 S.E.2d 639, 645 (Ct. App. 2015).

### *Analysis*

During Appellant’s trial the judge listened to extensive litigation from both sides regarding the adequacy of the search warrant issued for Appellant’s CSLI and, alternatively, whether Appellant had a privacy interest in those records. Inevitably the judge permitted the admission of the CSLI. This decision appeared to be largely based on the 2015 Fourth Circuit decision in *United States v. Graham*. *United States v. Graham*, 824 F.3d 421, 363 (4th Cir. 2016). In *Graham*, the Fourth Circuit held there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in historic CSLI, and that such information is therefore not protected by the Fourth Amendment. *See id.* at 425 (“All of our sister circuits to have considered the question have held, as we do today, that the government does not violate the Fourth Amendment when it obtains historical CSLI from a service provider without a warrant.”). *Graham* involved the acquisition of approximately seven months of historic CSLI, *id.* at 434, but the Court nevertheless concluded that the defendants’ “very act of disclosure [of the historic CSLI to the cellular service provider] negated any reasonable expectation of privacy, regardless of how frequently that disclosure occurred or how long the third party maintained records of the disclosures.” *Id.* at 435-36. “If individuals lack any legitimate expectation of privacy in information they share with a third party, then sharing more non-private information with that third party cannot change the calculus.” *Id.* at 436.

This portion of the *Graham* decision was recently reversed in *Carpenter v. United States*, — U.S. —, 138 S.Ct. 2206, — L.Ed.2d — (2018). There the Court decided that a person maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy for Fourth Amendment purposes in the records of

his physical movements disclosed by CSLI. *See id.* at 2217. The Court declined to say whether there was “a limited period for which the Government may obtain an individual’s historical CSLI free from Fourth Amendment scrutiny,” deciding only that accessing seven days’ or more worth of information was enough. *Id.* at 2217 n.3. Here, law enforcement acquired eight days of CSLI from the cellular company which puts the issue squarely within *Carpenter*’s holding.

Despite the misplaced reliance on *Graham*, the admission of the CSLI at Appellant’s trial should be upheld on the Good-Faith Doctrine. “[E]vidence obtained in good-faith reliance on a statute later declared unconstitutional need not be excluded.” *United States v. Curtis*, 901 F.3d 846, 848 (7th Cir. 2018) (citing *Illinois v. Krull*, 480 U.S. 340, 349–50, 107 S.Ct. 1160, 94 L.Ed.2d 364 (1987)); *United States v. Pembroke*, 876 F.3d 812, 823 (6th Cir. 2017), vacated on other grounds by *Johnson v. United States*, — U.S. —, 138 S.Ct. 2676, — L.Ed.2d — (2018) (applying the good-faith exception to CSLI obtained under the Stored Communications Act); *United States v. Graham*, 796 F.3d 332, 363 (4th Cir. 2015), reversed on other grounds by *United States v. Graham*, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc) (same); *United States v. Davis*, 785 F.3d 498, 511, 518 n:20 (11th Cir. 2015) (same)).

In the case of *Davis v. United States*, the U.S. Supreme Court set forth:

The Fourth Amendment protects the right to be free from “unreasonable searches and seizures,” but it is silent about how this right is to be enforced. To supplement the bare text, this Court created the exclusionary rule, a deterrent sanction that bars the prosecution from introducing evidence obtained by way of a Fourth Amendment violation. The question here is whether to apply this sanction when the police conduct a search in compliance with binding precedent that is later overruled. Because suppression would do nothing to deter police misconduct in these circumstances, and because it would come at a high cost to both the truth and the public safety, we hold that searches conducted in objectively reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent are not subject to the exclusionary rule.

*Davis*, 564 U.S. 229, 229–32, (2011).

Additionally, the U.S. Supreme Court in *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984) formulated a good faith exception to the exclusionary rule where a police officer acts in objectively reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate. Under these circumstances, the Court determined, there would be little deterrent effect from suppression because the “officer is acting as a reasonable officer would and should act in similar circumstances.” *Id.*, at 920. The Court ultimately concluded: “[i]n the absence of an allegation that the magistrate abandoned his detached and neutral role, suppression is appropriate only if the officers were dishonest or reckless in preparing their affidavit or could not have harbored an objectively reasonable belief in the existence of probable cause.” *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 926.

In the recent case of *United States v. Chavez*, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals applied the above precedence in making a good-faith finding to the warrantless collection of CSLI.

In *United States v. Graham*, we held that “the government does not violate the Fourth Amendment when it obtains historical [cell site location information] from a service provider without a warrant.” 824 F.3d 421, 425 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc). In *Carpenter v. United States*, however, the Supreme Court made clear that the government's acquisition of Carpenter's cell site records “was a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.” No. 16-402, slip op. at 17, 585 U.S. —, —, 138 S.Ct. 2206, — L.Ed.2d — (June 22, 2018). While *Carpenter* is obviously controlling going forward, it can have no effect on Chavez's case. The exclusionary rule's “sole purpose ... is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations.” *Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 236–37, 131 S.Ct. 2419, 180 L.Ed.2d 285 (2011). Thus, when investigators “act with an objectively ‘reasonable good-faith belief’ that their conduct is lawful,” the exclusionary rule will not apply. *Id.* at 238, 131 S.Ct. 2419 (quoting *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 909, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 (1984)). Objectively reasonable good faith includes “searches conducted in reasonable reliance on subsequently invalidated statutes.” *Id.* at 239, 131 S.Ct. 2419. Chavez does not, and cannot, deny that investigators in this case reasonably relied on court orders and the Stored Communications Act in obtaining the cell site records. Without question, then, the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies to investigators' actions here.

*United States v. Chavez*, 894 F.3d 593, 608 (4th Cir. 2018).

Here, the record supports good-faith reliance on the issued search warrant. Law enforcement went above and beyond what was required under the prevailing appellant precedent of the time. Despite, *Graham's* holding which advised against needing a warrant, law enforcement officers sought out a search warrant, supported by probable cause and relating to communication records which originated from Anderson County. Considering the warrant, along with Investigator Voight's supplementary testimony, the record supports that law enforcement acted in good faith when issuing the search to Appellant's Cellular Provider. See T-Mobile Warrant; R. p. 7, l. 16 - p. 10, l. 25; *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 292, 494 S.E.2d 801, 803 (1997) ("A search warrant that is insufficient in itself to establish probable cause may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony."). Accordingly, under both *Davis* and *Leon*, the exclusionary rule would not apply to the particular circumstances.

### **III. The Trial Judge Acted Within His Discretion In Admitting Expert Testimony From Agent David Church.**

#### *Standard of Review*

"A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion." *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (citing *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006)).

#### *Analysis*

Appellant seeks to assert that testimony by the State's expert witness on historical cell site data was unreliable and should not have been permitted. South Carolina Rule of Evidence 702 sets forth that "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion

or otherwise.” SCRE 702; *see State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (quoting *Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 147, 119 S.Ct. 1167, 143 L.Ed.2d 238 (1999) (“This language makes no relevant distinction between scientific knowledge and technical or ‘other specialized knowledge. It makes clear that any such knowledge might become the subject of expert testimony.”) (internal quotations omitted). “When admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999)

In the case of *State v. White*, the South Carolina Supreme Court dealt with the determination of reliability of technical, non-scientific evidence. There the Court affirmed the trial court’s admission of expert testimony by a law enforcement K9 handler regarding dog tracking evidence. *White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). In reaching this conclusion the Court set forth:

*State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) is often cited for the gatekeeping role of the trial court with regard to expert testimony under Rule 702, as well as the standard reliability factors for scientific evidence. The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the *Council* factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony. We have set forth above foundational requirements for Rule 702 expert testimony concerning dog tracking evidence.

We do not pretend to know the myriad of Rule 702 qualification and reliability challenges that could arise with respect to nonscientific expert evidence. Consequently, we offer no formulaic approach that will apply in the generality of cases. Yet the trial court in the discharge of its gatekeeping role in determining admissibility must initially answer the always present threshold questions of qualification and reliability.

We hold that the trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and

reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to “weight, not admissibility” may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.

(*White*, 382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 688).

The trial judge was within his discretion in finding the historical cell site data from Appellant’s cellular activity was reliable and admissible. Prior to trial, the court proffered testimony from Agent Church describing his professional expertise and a detailed description of historic cell site data. Then, the trial court permitted a thorough examination of all matters relating to admissibility including reliability. The court subsequently did its own independent evaluation of the substance of Church’s testimony to determine if it was reliable. *See* R. p. 73, l. 3– p. 99, l. 3; *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (citing *White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E. 2d 684 (“Under *White*, after qualifying [the witness] as an expert, the circuit judge should have then evaluated the substance of [the witness’s] testimony to determine if it was reliable, as required by Rule 702, SCRE.”)). In addition to the trial court’s discharge of its gatekeeping role in assessing the admissibility of the CSLI evidence, the court properly instructed the jury that “you are to give his testimony such weight and credibility as you deem appropriate as you will with any and all witnesses that will testify in this trial. *See* R. p. 408, ll. 4-10; *White*, 335 S.C. at 271, 515 S.E.2d at 687.

In addition, the use of CSLI has been found reliable and admissible in multiple jurisdictions. *See United States v. Jones*, 918 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 (D.D.C. 2013) (“On the whole, the Court is persuaded that [CAST Agent’s] proposed testimony is based on reliable methodology. Indeed, the use of cell phone location records to determine the general location of a cell phone has been widely accepted by numerous federal courts. *See, e.g., United States v. Schaffer*, 439 Fed.Appx. 344, 347 (5th Cir.2011) (concluding that the field of “historical cell site analysis” was

“neither untested nor unestablished”); *United States v. Dean*, 2012 WL 6568229, at \*5 (N.D.Ill. Dec. 14, 2012) (finding that expert testimony relating to cell site records was reliable and would assist the trier of fact to determine a fact at issue, and noting that “such testimony is generally accepted in the Seventh Circuit”); *United States v. Fama*, 2012 WL 6102700, at \*3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 10, 2012) (noting that “[n]umerous federal courts have found similar testimony reliable and admissible” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *United States v. Davis*, No. 11-60285-CR, 2013 WL 2156659, at \*4 (S.D. Fla. May 17, 2013) (“As for the reliability of [CAST] Agent’s methodology, that, too, satisfies *Daubert*’s requirements.”).

#### **IV. Any Error In Admitting Records And Testimony Regarding Appellant’s Cell Site Location Information Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.**

##### ***Standard of Review***

The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is “whether it appears ‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.’ ” *State v. Charping*, 313 S.C. 147, 157, 437 S.E.2d 88, 94 (1993) (quoting *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), overruled on other grounds by *Franklin v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 563, 552 S.E.2d 718 (2001)). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” *State v. Mitchell*, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (2008). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it ‘could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.’ ” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)).

### *Analysis*

Any error in admitting the CSLI evidence and permitting the expert testimony by Agent Church was harmless because petitioner's guilt was conclusively established by other competent evidence at trial, such that no other rational conclusion could have been reached. *See State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 6, 317 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1984); (“[W]here guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence and no rational conclusion can be reached other than the accused is guilty, a conviction will not be set aside because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); *see also State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006) (employing a harmless error analysis in the case of a defective search warrant).

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